RECEIVED

May 22 2023

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Brian L. Boger, Special Referee

Appellate Case No. 2022-000947

Lisa Cruz,.....Respondent,

v.

Heyward Bouknight and Kathy Bouknight.....Appellants.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

Andrew S. Radeker
S.C. Bar No. 73743
Harrison, Radeker & Smith, P.A.
Post Office Box 50143
Columbia, South Carolina 29250
(803) 779-2211
drew@harrisonfirm.com
Attorney for Appellants

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- I. Did the lower court err reversibly in granting summary judgment against Appellants for the ostensible violation of a restrictive covenant prohibiting the use of a trailer as a residence when the Appellants' house is a manufactured home that is not a vehicle equipped to be towed on a street or highway?**
- II. Did the lower court err reversibly in ordering Appellants to remove their home from their property?**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal of an order directing the Appellants, Heyward and Kathy Bouknight (hereinafter “the Bouknights”) to remove their prefabricated manufactured home from their property, on the grounds that the Bouknights are violating a restrictive covenant that prohibits a “trailer” from being used as a residence. (R. pp. 1-18.)

The Respondent, Lisa Cruz (hereinafter “Cruz”), brought this action seeking injunctive relief requiring the Bouknights to remove their home from their property, with Cruz contending that the Bouknights are violating restrictive covenants through their use of their house, a manufactured home, as a residence. (R. pp. 1-2, 29-40.) The covenants, executed and recorded in 1954, state that “[n]o trailer, basement, tent shack, garage, or barn shall at any time be used as a residence, either temporary or permanent[,]” at property subject of the covenants. (R. pp. 34, 132.) The Bouknights answered and denied that they are violating the covenants. (R. pp. 41-43.)

The case was initially referred by consent to the Master-in-Equity for Lexington County. (R. pp. 20-22.) After the master determined he had a conflict of interest, he recused himself, and the case was referred to a special referee. (R. pp. 23-28.)

The Bouknights moved for summary judgment, and Cruz also moved for summary judgment. (R. pp. 44-137.) The special referee held a hearing on the motions, requested proposed orders from the parties’ counsel, and, after some time, issued an order that granted Cruz’s motion and denied the Bouknights’. (R. pp. 1-18, p. 171 ln. 4-7.)

The special referee found that this case “concerns a prefabricated house [that] was delivered by tractor-trailer, truck-bed or similar over-the-road vehicle to the Bouknights’ lot[.]” (R. p. 3.) He determined “there is no genuine issue of material fact in this case as to whether

the Bouknights' manufactured home was intended to be and is covered by the Brookgreen Terrace subdivision's ban on using 'trailers' on lots in the subdivision[.]" (R. p. 18.) His order directed the Bouknights "to, at their own expense and within 60 days of issuance of this Order, to remove their manufactured home or trailer from their lot in the Brookgreen Terrace subdivision." (R. p. 18.)

The special referee ruled that South Carolina statutes and cases "suggest that the terms 'manufactured home', 'mobile home', 'house trailer' and 'trailer' are used and treated interchangeably" and that "the essential characteristics of a mobile home, trailer, and manufactured home are the same, as is evident from the prior as well as current statutory definitions." (R. p. 11.) He wrote that "it is clear that the South Carolina Legislature and courts in South Carolina and elsewhere do not offer any material distinction between 'manufactured home', mobile homes, and 'trailers', such that a 'manufactured home' would escape coverage of a subdivision restrictive covenant that bans 'trailers'." (R. pp. 11-12.) The special referee stated that decisions in and out of this state "clearly, plainly, and unmistakably hold that manufactured homes, mobile homes, and trailers are interchangeable and synonymous, for purposed of applying and enforcing subdivision restrictive covenants that ban 'trailers'." (R. p. 12.) He found that "[t]here can be no question that when the Brookgreen Terrace subdivision restrictive covenants were authored, the developer intended that the term 'trailer' would cover other types of synonymous prefabricated housing, such as manufactured or mobile homes, like [the Bouknights']" (R. p. 12.)

The Bouknights moved to reconsider, and the special referee held a hearing on the motion to reconsider. (R. pp. 138-53, 173-90.) The special referee denied the motion to reconsider. (R. p. 19.)

This appeal followed.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Bouknights' prefabricated manufactured home is not and never has been a trailer. The home was built off-site and brought to the Defendants' property on the bed of a truck. (R. p. 78 ln. 12 through p. 79 ln. 7.) There is no evidence in the record to the effect that the home has ever had wheels or a tongue or has otherwise been equipped to be hauled on streets or highways, but there is evidence that it never had wheels, a tongue, or other parts needed for towing down roads. (R. p. 78 ln. 12-24, p. 143.) There is no evidence in the record to the effect that the Bouknights' home meets *any* of the definitions of *trailer* found by the parties or the special referee.

The special referee stretched far to reach the conclusion that the Bouknight's house is a trailer. It is not. The special referee stretched farther than the law allows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

When reviewing the grant of a summary judgment motion, this court applies the same standard that governs the trial court under Rule 56(c), SCRCP. Fleming v. Rose, 350 S.C. 488, 493, 567 S.E.2d 857, 860 (2002). That standard is that:

summary judgment may be rendered only when the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Additionally, it must be shown that further inquiry into the facts of the case is not desirable to clarify the application of the law.

Folkens v. Hunt, 290 S.C. 194, 196, 348 S.E.2d 839, 841 (Ct. App. 1986).

"All ambiguities, conclusions, and inferences arising from the evidence must be construed most strongly against the moving party. Even when there is no dispute as to the

evidentiary facts, but only as to the conclusions or inferences to be drawn from them, summary judgment should be denied.” Nelson v. Charleston County Parks & Recreation Comm., 362 S.C. 1, 5, 605 S.E.2d 744, 746 (Ct. App. 2004). If “the parties vehemently dispute the inferences and conclusions to be drawn from the undisputed facts, . . . that simply establishes that summary judgment is not appropriate[.]” Montgomery v. CSX Transp., Inc., 656 S.E.2d 20, 29 (2008).

When determining if any triable issues of fact exist, the evidence and all reasonable inferences must be viewed in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. Moreover, since it is a drastic remedy, summary judgment should be cautiously invoked so that a litigant will not be improperly deprived of a trial on disputed factual issues.

Englert, Inc. v. LeafGuard USA, Inc., 377 S.C. 129, 133-34, 659 S.E.2d 496, 498 (2008).

In 2009, the South Carolina Supreme Court clarified earlier confusion about whether a scintilla of evidence is sufficient to defeat summary judgment. See Hancock v. Mid-South Management Co., Inc., 381 S.C. 326, 330, 673 S.E.2d 801, 802-03 (2009). In Hancock, the Court held that “in cases applying the preponderance of the evidence burden of proof, the non-moving party is only required to submit a mere scintilla of evidence in order to withstand a motion for summary judgment.” Id. at 330, 673 S.E.2d at 803. More than a scintilla is required only in cases requiring heightened burdens of proof or applying federal law. Id. at 330-31, 673 S.E.2d at 803.

ARGUMENT

I. South Carolina law requires a narrow construction of the covenants.

“A restriction on the use of property must be created in express terms or by plain and unmistakable implication, and all such restrictions are to be strictly construed, with all doubts resolved in favor of the free use of property.” Hamilton v. CCM, Inc., 274 S.C. 152, 157, 263

S.E.2d 378, 380 (1980) (citations omitted). “Restrictive covenants are to be construed most strictly against the grantor and persons seeking to enforce them, and liberally in favor of the grantee, all doubts being resolved in favor of a free use of the property and against restrictions.” Stanton v. Gulf Oil Corp., 232 S.C. 148, 151, 101 S.E.2d 250, 251 (1957) (internal quotation marks omitted). “It is still the settled rule in this jurisdiction that restrictions as to the use of real estate should be strictly construed and all doubts resolved in favor of free use of the property.” Taylor v. Lindsey, 332 S.C. 1, 4, 498 S.E.2d 862, 864 (1998).

Our Supreme Court has noted that “[i]t follows, of course, that where the language of the restrictions is equally capable of two or more different constructions that construction will be adopted which least restricts the use of the property.” Id. When more than one logical interpretation of a restriction is possible, a court must adopt the interpretation that is the least restrictive. Id.; see Anderson v. Buonforte, 365 S.C. 482, 617 S.E.2d 750, 758 (Ct. App. 2005).

“The court may not limit a restriction in a deed, nor, on the other hand, will a restriction be enlarged or extended by construction or implication beyond the clear meaning of its terms even to accomplish what it may be thought the parties would have desired had a situation which later developed been foreseen by them at the time when the restriction was written.” Forest Land Co. v. Black, 216 S.C. 255, 57 S.E.2d 420, 424 (1950).

Even if one could reasonably construe the term “trailer” in these 1954 covenants to embrace the more modern idea of a manufactured home, which is unlikely, but one could also reasonably construe the term trailer *not* to include a manufactured home, the “settled rule” in South Carolina required the special referee to adopt the construction “which least restricts the use of the property.” Taylor, 332 S.C. at 4. Here, that means a construction of *trailer* that does not include the Bouknights’ manufactured home.

As discussed below, the special referee chose not to follow these foundational principles in reaching his decision. This was reversible error.

II. This house does not meet any definition of *trailer*.

Between them, the parties' counsel and the special referee probably found every definition of *trailer*, *mobile home*, and *manufactured home* that has been set out in a statute or reported case in the state of South Carolina. (R. pp. 5-11, 117-19, p. 176 ln. 19-22, pp. 191-93.) The Bouknights' house does not meet any legally recognized definition of *trailer*. (R. pp. 139, 146-151, p. 168 ln. 17-24, p. 176 ln. 16-22, pp. 195, 205-06.)

The covenants prohibit use of a "trailer" as a residence. (R. pp. 34, 132.) The Merriam-Webster dictionary defines "trailer" as follows:

1 : a nonautomotive vehicle designed to be hauled by road: such as

a : a vehicle for transporting something, a boat trailer especially : semi-trailer sense 1

b : a vehicle designed to serve wherever parked as a temporary dwelling or place of business

c : mobile home

2a: a selected group of scenes that are shown to advertise a movie : preview sense 3 a theatrical trailer

b: a short blank strip of film attached to the end of a reel

3 : one that trails

4 : a trailing plant

(Emphasis added.)

Under South Carolina statutory law, "[t]railer' means every vehicle with or without motive power, other than a pole trailer, designed for carrying persons or property and for being

drawn by a motor vehicle and constructed so that no part of its weight rests upon the towing vehicle.” S.C. Code Ann. § 56-19-10(34) (emphasis added).

“House trailer” means:

(a) a trailer or semitrailer which is designed, constructed, and equipped as a dwelling place, living abode, or sleeping place, either permanently or temporarily, and is equipped for use as a conveyance on streets and highways; or

(b) a trailer or a semitrailer whose chassis and exterior shell is designed and constructed for use as a house trailer, as defined in subitem (a) of this item, but which is used instead permanently or temporarily for the advertising, sales, display, or promotion of merchandise or services or for another commercial purpose except the transportation of property for hire or the transportation of property for distribution by a private carrier.

S.C. Code Ann. § 56-19-10(10) (emphasis added).

Cruz argued that the Bouknights’ home is, or effectively is, a mobile home. (R. p. 114, p. 161 ln. 11-25.) The special referee agreed, reasoning that a manufactured home and a mobile home are the same thing. (R. pp. 11-13.) The statutory definitions of “mobile home” and “manufactured home” point to a different conclusion.

“Mobile home” means every vehicle which is designed, constructed, and equipped principally as a permanent dwelling place and is equipped to be moved on streets and highways, but which exceeds the size limitations prescribed in Section 56-3-710 and which cannot be licensed and registered by the Department of Motor Vehicles as a “house trailer.”

S.C. Code Ann. § 56-19-10(39) (emphasis added).

A manufactured home has a different statutory definition:

“Manufactured home” means a structure, transportable in one or more sections which, in the traveling mode, is eight body feet or more in width or forty body feet or more in length or when erected on site is three hundred twenty or more square feet and which is built on a permanent chassis and designed to be used as a dwelling with or without a permanent foundation when

connected to the required utilities and includes the plumbing, heating, air conditioning, and electrical systems contained in it.

S.C. Code Ann. § 40-29-20(9). That definition contains nothing about being equipped to be moved on streets and highways. Id.

The special referee also relied on repealed former S.C. Code § 31-17-20(a), which defined a “manufactured home” as a “mobile home,” and a case that quoted from it. (R. pp. 6, 11, 140.) That statute was repealed by 1989 Act No. 128, § 6, well before the manufacture and placement of the Bouknights’ home. (R. pp. 1-2.) That statute is not the law. Id. The special referee also based his decision on other non-law authority, as in the “S.C. Revenue Advisory Bulletin” cited on page 9 of the order, treating it as though it were legal authority. (R. pp. 9, 11.)

The special referee also seemed to put some weight on the fact that the manufactured home was brought to the Bouknights’ property on the bed of a truck. (R. pp. 3, 11.) There is a stark difference between something being designed to be transported on the bed of a truck and something designed to be a vehicle itself, “designed for carrying persons or property and for being drawn by a motor vehicle and constructed so that no part of its weight rests upon the towing vehicle.” S.C. Code Ann. § 56-19-10(34). The latter is what a *trailer* is. Id. As noted below, “[a]ny object could be put on a flatbed and hauled. This table’s not a trailer, but it could be put on a flatbed and hauled.” (R. p. 185 ln. 9-11.)

All of the evidence in the record is to the effect that the Bouknights’ home has never been designed or equipped to carry persons and property or to be pulled behind another vehicle on streets and highways. (R. p. 78 ln. 12-24, p. 139, p. 165 ln. 20-25, p. 177 ln. 7-21, p. 195.) The Bouknights’ house has never had wheels, a tongue, or other parts needed for towing down roads. (R. p. 78 ln. 12-24, p. 143.) The Bouknights’ prefabricated dwelling house is not and

never has been equipped for use as a conveyance. (R. p. 78 ln. 12-24, p. 139, p. 165 ln. 20-25, p. 177 ln. 7-21, p. 195.) The record is devoid of any evidence to the contrary. (R. p. 78 ln. 12-24, p. 139, p. 165 ln. 20-25, p. 177 ln. 7-21, p. 195.) The differences between the definitions of “trailer” and “manufactured home,” in light of the evidence in the record to the effect that the manufactured home was not and is not “designed for carrying persons or property and for being drawn by a motor vehicle and constructed so that no part of its weight rests upon the towing vehicle[,]” indicate that the Bouknight’s home is not a trailer. S.C. Code Ann. § 56-19-10(34).

The special referee grounded his order in the idea that the terms *manufactured home*, *mobile home*, *house trailer*, and *trailer* have no material differences in meaning. (R. pp. 11-12, 140.) But that conclusion runs afoul of the principle that “[a] statute should be so construed that no word, clause, sentence, provision or part shall be rendered surplusage, or superfluous.” In re: Decker, 322 S.C. 215, 219, 471 S.E.2d 462, 463 (1995). The General Assembly did not adopt different definitions for these terms only for those definitions to be superfluous in light of the terms’ identical “real” meanings. See id. In South Carolina law, the terms *manufactured home*, *mobile home*, *house trailer*, and *trailer* are **not** used and treated interchangeably. (R. p. 140.) They have *different* definitions, not the same definition. (R. p. 140.) There are indeed material distinctions in the law between the meanings of these terms. (R. p. 140.) The General Assembly *did* make important distinctions in the meanings of these words. See id.; (R. p. 140.)

Nothing in the definition of *manufactured home*, S.C. Code Ann. § 40-29-20(9), means that a manufactured home necessarily meets the definition of a *mobile home*, S.C. Code Ann. § 56-19-10(39), much less a *trailer*. S.C. Code Ann. § 56-19-10(34). There is no evidence in the record that the Bouknights’ house is a “vehicle with or without motive power, other than a

pole trailer, designed for carrying persons or property and for being drawn by a motor vehicle and constructed so that no part of its weight rests upon the towing vehicle.” Id. All the evidence is to the contrary. It is not a trailer under any definition of *trailer* recognized by the law.

The special referee erred reversibly in determining the Bouknights’ home violates the covenants and in granting Cruz’s motion.

III. Heape does not support the special referee’s ruling. If anything, the definition of *trailer* in it further reveals the error in the special referee’s reasoning.

Cruz relief heavily on Heape v. Broxton, 293 S.C. 343, 360 S.E.2d 157 (Ct. App. 1987), for the proposition that, as a matter of law, a manufactured home is a mobile home and a mobile home is a trailer, so the Bouknights’ manufactured home must be a trailer. (R. pp. 115-17, 119, p. 159 ln. 19-22, p. 160 ln. 7-11.) The special referee appears to have adopted Cruz’s view of Heape. (R. pp. 6-8.)

Thankfully, that is not what Heape actually says. (R. pp. 147-150, p. 165 ln. 7-14, p. 166 ln. 7-12, pp. 194-95.) Heape dealt with a covenant provision that prohibited a “trailer,” a term which the Heape court held embraced the double-wide mobile home at issue in that case. Id. at 344-45. This court in Heape concluded that a mobile home met the definition of trailer, which the court defined as “a nonautomotive highway vehicle designed to be hauled by a tractor, truck, or automobile.” Id. at 345.

The definition of a mobile home is indeed consistent with that definition of trailer. Id. at 345-46; see S.C. Code Ann. § 56-19-10(39). A mobile home is, by definition, a “vehicle which . . . is equipped to be moved on streets and highways.” S.C. Code Ann. § 56-19-10(39). As discussed above, the Bouknights’ house does not meet the definition of *mobile home*, nor does it meet the Heape definition of *trailer*.

That Heape does not stand for what Cruz contended it stands is shown by how this court has applied the Heape decision. Four years after its decision in Heape, this court decided the case of Henry v. Chambron, in which the court reversed the trial court's decision that a modular home ran afoul of covenants that prohibited the use of a "mobile home" or a "trailer" as a residence. 304 S.C. 351, 354 n. 1, 404 S.E.2d 518, 520 n. 1 (Ct. App. 1991). The Henry plaintiffs, citing Heape as their authority, argued "that the structure has the appearance of a mobile home and that the restrictions were designed to prevent structures with such an appearance in the subdivision." Henry, 304 S.C. at 353. This court declined to interpret Heape so broadly, reasoning as follows:

Even if his home were to resemble a mobile home, a structure having the mere appearance of a mobile home is not necessarily prohibited by a general restriction against mobile homes. Instead, a restriction on the use of property must be created in express terms or by plain and unmistakable implication, and all such restrictions are to be strictly construed, with all doubts resolved in favor of the free use of property.

...

The restriction could have prohibited modular homes by a simple expression of the intent to do so. . . . Even if modular homes were not contemplated at the time the restriction was filed, there is no evidence in the record that the property owners were prevented from amending the restriction to include modular homes at a later date.

Id. at 353, 354, 355 (internal citations and quotation marks omitted).

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