**RECEIVED**

**May 12 2023**

**SC Court of Appeals**

IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Brian L. Boger, Special Referee

---

Case No. 2022-000947

Lisa Cruz, ..... Respondent,

vs.

Heyward Bouknight and Kathy Bouknight, ..... Appellants.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

Ranee Saunders  
Elizabeth Franklin-Best  
Elizabeth Franklin-Best, P.C.  
3710 Landmark Drive, Suite 113  
Columbia, SC 29204  
803-445-1333  
[ranee@franklinbestlaw.com](mailto:ranee@franklinbestlaw.com)  
[elizabeth@franklinbestlaw.com](mailto:elizabeth@franklinbestlaw.com)

*Counsel for Respondent*

**

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

The incorporation of the use of the term “manufactured home” in the mix came from Congress’s modification of the United States Code to change the phrase “mobile home” to “manufactured home” in the Housing and Development Act of 1980, Pub. L. No. 96–399, 94 Stat 1614. *E.g., id.* (“Title VI of the Housing and Community Development Act of 1974 // 42 USC 5401 // is amended by striking out ‘Mobile Home’ each place it appears, other than in section 601 [where it is replaced with Manufactured Housing], and inserting in lieu thereof ‘Manufactured

---

<sup>3</sup> The definitions cited by Appellants from Title 56 do not contradict this assertion. Section 56-19-10 of the South Carolina Code defines “mobile home” as “every vehicle which is designed, constructed, and equipped principally as a permanent dwelling place and is equipped to be moved on streets and highways, but which exceeds the size limitations prescribed in Section 56-3-710 and which cannot be licensed and registered by the Department of Motor Vehicles as a ‘house trailer’” and “house trailer” as “a trailer or semitrailer which is designed, constructed, and equipped as a dwelling place, living abode, or sleeping place, either permanently or temporarily, and is equipped for use as a conveyance on streets and highways . . .” So both are vehicles equipped for transportation on streets and highways that are designed for use as a dwelling.

Home’ and by striking out ‘mobile home’ each place it appears and inserting in lieu thereof ‘manufactured home’.”). Under the previous version, “mobile home” had been defined as “a structure, transportable in one or more sections, which is eight body feet or more in width and is thirty-two body feet or more in length, and which is built on a permanent chassis and designed to be used as a dwelling with or without a permanent foundation when connected to the required utilities, and includes the plumbing, heating, air-conditioning, and electrical systems contained therein.” Pub. L. No. 93-383, 88 Stat 633. Congress changed only the words “mobile home” to “manufactured home,” but the actual structure referenced remained the same. Structures referred to as mobile homes (or colloquially trailers) before 1976 are now called manufactured homes pursuant to the Department of Housing and Urban Development’s (HUD) regulations.<sup>4</sup> But a change in parlance does not change the character of the thing. A rose is a rose and was always a rose. The modern flight attendant is different from a stewardess in name only, with the renaming embraced in a move to shift the public perception. Congress attempted to do the same by legislative enactment.

Therefore, Appellants’ attempt to distinguish a trailer from a mobile home from a manufactured home is no more than a flawed semantics argument. Even Appellant’s deposition testimony reflects the interchangeability of the words. When asked whether there was “anyone else with a manufactured home” in the development, Ms. Bouknight responded that “there is a single wide mobile home” around the corner from Respondent. (R. 66). When distinguishing the

---

<sup>4</sup> See also S.C. Code Ann. § 40-29-340 (“No person may sell or offer for sale a manufactured home manufactured after June 15, 1976, unless its components, systems, and appliances meet the criteria of compliance with the Construction and Safety Standards Act and have been properly certified by the Department of Housing and Urban Development.”).

“trailer” she had previously sought to place in Brookgreen Terrace from the manufactured home, she said the difference was just the implementation of HUD regulations. (R. 63). Furthermore, Ms. Bouknight recognized the need to file a mobile home affidavit with the county. (R. 135). So federal law may have decided to call it something else, but elsewhere, including in the minds of Appellants, trailer, mobile home and manufactured home are terms that pass synonymously.

Nevertheless, Appellants work to draw distinction to the fact that their manufactured home was carried, not towed, to the location and from this fact assert the home “has never had wheels, a tongue, or other parts needed for towing down roads.” App. Br. 10. Suggesting the manufactured home was never intended to be road-worthy is not in line with the basic elements of manufactured homes.<sup>5</sup> HUD’s regulations include extensive specification as to the necessary components of the required transportation system and plainly envision the home being towed. *See* 24 C.F.R. § 3280.904 (“The transportation system must be designed and constructed as an integrated unit which is safe and suitable for its specified use. In operation, the transportation system must effectively respond to the control of the towing vehicle tracking and braking, while traveling at applicable highway speeds and in normal highway traffic conditions.”). Furthermore, even the statutes referenced by Appellants specifically indicate that the structure is “transportable”, has a “traveling mode”, and need *not* be permanently affixed. *See* S.C. Code § 40-29-20(9) (“‘Manufactured home’ means a structure, transportable in one or more sections which, in the traveling mode, is eight body feet or more in width or forty body feet or more in length

---

<sup>5</sup> It is not disputed that a manufactured home is built on a permanent chassis and must be titled with the Department of Motor Vehicles under state law. If the manufactured home was indeed never intended to be road worthy, it hardly makes sense to have to title it with the Department of Motor Vehicles.

or when erected on site is three hundred twenty or more square feet and which is built on a permanent chassis and designed to be used as a dwelling with or without a permanent foundation when connected to the required utilities and includes the plumbing, heating, air conditioning, and electrical systems contained in it.”).

The Supreme Court has recognized that the HUD standards for manufactured home construction dictate a towable structure on a chassis in *Bibco Corp. v. City of Sumter*, 332 S.C. 45, 504 S.E.2d 112 (1998). In that case, the City of Sumter’s zoning ordinances excluded mobile homes from R-9 districts but allowed modular homes. *Id.* at 50, 504 S.E.2d at 115. Bibco made a rather convoluted federal preemption argument that the only difference between the two types of homes is the method of construction, and therefore the zoning was effectively “an attempt to dictate State construction standards for HUD-code manufactured homes” but those state standards are preempted by National Manufactured Housing Construction and Safety Standards Act of 1974. *Id.* In rejecting this argument, the Supreme Court noted that Sumter’s ordinance defined mobile home as “a transportable structure of one or more sections built on a permanent chassis and designed to be towed.” *Id.* at 51, 504 S.E.2d at 115. It thus concluded that a HUD-code manufactured home “would be considered a mobile home” under that ordinance. *Id.* In making that determination, the Court reviewed the federal definition of “manufactured home” found in 2 U.S.C. § 5402(6) which, like section 40-29-20 of the South Carolina Code, defines a manufactured home as “a structure, transportable in one or more sections, which, in the traveling mode, is eight body feet or more in width or forty body feet or more in length, or, when erected on site, is three hundred twenty or more square feet, and which is built on a permanent chassis and designed to be used as a dwelling with or without a permanent foundation when connected to the required

utilities, and including the plumbing, heating, air-conditioning, and electrical systems contained therein.”<sup>6</sup> The Court then distinguished the definition of modular home found in the ordinance, by emphasizing that modular homes are “not designed for ready removal to another site.” *Id.* at 51-52, 504 S.E.2d at 116. The Court therefore rejected preemption and concluded “Bibco’s mobile homes are excluded from R-9 districts not because they fail to comply with some State construction or safety standard **but because they are built on a permanent chassis and designed to be towed.**” *Id.* at 52, 504 S.E.2d at 116 (emphasis added).

Furthermore, opting to place the manufactured home on a truck bed does not negate the fact it was constructed to be towable.<sup>7</sup> This Court has already observed as much in *Heape*, where the homeowner argued that the size and the fact that the home had been permanently affixed to the property distinguished the home from a trailer. 293 S.C. at 345, 360 S.E.2d at 158. In rejecting that argument, this Court found that

a mobile home is a trailer is not changed by the fact that the wheels and the tongue were removed from each section, that the two sections were joined together and placed on a permanent foundation, and that the connected sections were attached to a septic tank and to water and power lines. The structure is still a trailer, its basic characteristics having not been changed by these actions.

*Id.* at 346, 360 S.E.2d at 159. The permanent installation of a manufactured home requires the

---

<sup>6</sup> The only distinction between the federal statute and our state statute is that the version of 2 U.S.C. § 5402(6) cited in *Bibco* includes one other clause to the final sentence: “except that such term shall include any structure which meets all the requirements and with respect to which the manufacturer voluntarily files a certification required by the Secretary and complies with the standards established under this chapter.” Therefore, despite Appellants’ arguments that the definition of “manufactured home” found in section 40-29-20(9) does not suggest that the home is towable and equipped to be moved on highways, our Supreme Court has held the opposite is true.

<sup>7</sup> Appellants rely on Ms. Bouknight’s testimony that the home did not have wheels and that she did not know that it ever did. As discussed *infra*, the wheels, axle, and hitch must be removed prior to affixing it to the property.

removal of the tow package, and therefore Appellants' home would not have wheels or a tow hitch when it was installed on the property. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 56-19-510 (“(A) An owner of a manufactured home may affix the home to real property by: (1) installing the home in accordance with the required installation standards and removing the wheels, axles, and towing hitch . . .”). Therefore, under federal regulations, state statutes, and precedent from this Court and the Supreme Court, a manufactured home is a towable vehicle that is necessarily equipped to be moved on streets and highways.

Appellants nevertheless reference *Henry v. Chambron*, 304 S.C. 351, 404 S.E.2d 518 (Ct. App. 1991). That case, which hinged on the question of whether the home at issue was a modular or mobile home, fails to support Appellants' position. *Id.* at 353, 404 S.E.2d at 519. Appellants do not contend their home is a modular home, and instead indicate they chose *not* to purchase a modular home because of the significant difference in expense. (R. 58–59). As *Henry* explains, the distinctions between the two structures are significant and include the very standards under which the homes must be constructed. Specifically, a modular home must be constructed according to local building codes—a mobile home does not. *Henry*, 304 S.C. at 352–53, 404 S.E.2d at 519; *see also* (R. 69) (noting that manufactured homes are subject to HUD standards).

Accordingly, the special referee's conclusion was wholly in line with the tenants of construction applicable to restrictive covenants. Strictly construing a restrictive covenant does not prevent enforcement of an unambiguous restriction. The meaning of the covenant at issue is unmistakable and though HUD updated the language to call a mobile home a manufactured home, it is the common usage that is at issue. The updates in safety and design brought on by technology and HUD regulations have not changed the basics of the structure. Many changes have occurred

in safety and technology since 1954, with significant ones in the automotive industry. But a car is still a car, even if they are now required to have seat belts and body designs have repeatedly transformed. They are all still built on a permanent chassis and designed for transportation. A manufactured home is also still built on a permanent chassis and even though there have been updates, it is designed to be the transportable, factory-built dwelling the restrictive covenant sought to keep out of Brookgreen Terrace with its prohibition on trailers.

**II. The special referee properly ordered the removal of the manufactured home and Appellants failed to preserve any argument to the contrary.**

Appellants also argue that the relief granted—requiring the removal of the home from the lot—was improper. Instead, since the restrictive covenant reference using the trailer as a residence, Appellants assert the proper remedy would be to preclude them from using it as a residence, not removal.

This argument is not properly before this Court. Appellants first raised this issue at the *hearing* for the Rule 59(e), SCRCF motion. It is well-settled that a party cannot argue an issue for the first time in a motion to alter or amend. *Hickman v. Hickman*, 301 S.C. 455, 456, 392 S.E.2d 481, 482 (Ct. App. 1990) (“A party cannot use Rule 59(e) to present to the court an issue the party could have raised prior to judgment but did not.”). Because it was not argued in the filed motion, it is not clear from the transcript that the special referee even realized Appellants intended to raise this as an actual legal argument. In neither the hearing—nor the brief—did Appellants cite to any law supporting this assertion or offer any explanation how that would be a sensible or equitable manner of enforcing the restrictive covenant. The argument was and is therefore abandoned. *First Sav. Bank v. McLean*, 314 S.C. 361, 363, 444 S.E.2d 513, 514 (1994) (finding argument abandoned where the appellant failed to “provide arguments or supporting authority for his assertion”).

Respondent can only speculate as to what Appellants may attempt to argue, but it is enough to say it is simply too late to start that inquiry. Had Appellants brought this up previously, Respondent would have noted that the restrictive covenants also state that the land “shall be used for residential purposes only.” (R. 46). Leaving a known uninhabitable structure on the property is not a residential purpose. The covenant also prohibits “anything whatsoever be done on the premises which may be or may become an annoyance to the neighborhood, or may injure that value of any other lot or lots in the area.” (R. 46). Certainly, leaving an empty trailer on the property in a subdivision that has a restrictive covenant specifically preventing the use of that structure as a residence in this residential neighborhood would annoy the neighborhood and diminish the value of homes in the area.

Appellants were well-aware of the restrictive covenants prior to making the choice to purchase and affix their manufactured home to the property for them to use as a residence. (R. 61, 109). It would be wholly inequitable to allow them to violate the covenant and simply move out leave the structure on the property. The special referee therefore properly ordered its removal. *See Sea Pines Plantation Co.*, 294 S.C. at 274, 366 S.E.2d at 896 (“Although the issuance of a mandatory injunction depends upon the equities between the parties, the decision of whether to issue such relief rests in the court’s discretion.”); *Buffington*, 383 S.C. at 393, 680 S.E.2d at 291 (2009) (holding if a party against whom a restrictive covenant is enforced was on notice of the covenant when the party acquired the subject property, it would be inequitable to consider that party’s financial loss in purchasing and improving the subject property).

## CONCLUSION

The term “trailer” in the restrictive covenant is clear and unambiguously encompasses

Appellants' manufactured home an Appellants' challenge to the remedy is procedurally barred and should not be considered. Even so, there is not rationale in sense or equity to require anything other than removal. Accordingly, Respondent respectfully requests this Court affirm the order of the special referee.